FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 NOV -9 AM 9:11

STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY AB
DEPUTY

No. 47494-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

MUTUAL OF ENUMCLAW INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant / Cross-Respondent,

vs.

MYONG SUK DAY,

Respondent / Cross-Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT / CROSS-RESPONDENT

Brent W. Beecher
HACKETT, BEECHER & HART
Attorneys for Mutual of Enumclaw
1601 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2200
Seattle, WA 98101
T) 206-624-2200
F) 206-624-1767

pm 11/4/15

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in entering the final judgments against Myong Suk Day / dba Stop In Grocery (“Day or “SIG”).
2. The trial court erred in entering final judgment against Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Company (“Enumclaw”).
3. The trial court erred in granting SIG’s Motions *in Limine* preventing the introduction of evidence supporting Enumclaw’s claim that SIG had not been harmed.
4. The trial court erred by failing to properly instruct the jury on the legal standards applicable to reformation and insurance binders.
5. The trial court erred in imposing a presumption of harm and coverage by estoppel against Enumclaw, and failing to make any findings regarding causation before entering judgment.
6. The trial court erred in refusing to allow Enumclaw to present evidence rebutting the erroneously applied presumption of harm.
7. The trial court erred by imposing a damages multiplier under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act, RCW 48.30.015.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court exceed its jurisdictional authority, under the doctrine of mootness, by entering judgments against SIG that would not require any party to do or pay anything? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1,2,5)

2. Was Enumclaw wrongly deprived of the opportunity to present evidence of its involvement in achieving complete resolution of Smith's and Lee's claim against SIG, on the issue of whether Enumclaw had harmed SIG? (Assignments of Error Nos. 2, 3, 6)
3. Was the jury entitled to be apprised of the proper legal standards applicable to claims for reformation and the effect of insurance binders under which Enumclaw handled Stop in Grocery's claim? (Assignments of Error Nos. 2, 4).
4. Is a presumption of harm or coverage by estoppel permitted where an insurer's coverage position in a reservation of rights defense is based on facts entirely discrete from the insured's potential liability to a third party, such that coverage issues do not have the potential to influence that defense? (Assignments of Error Nos. 2, 5)
5. Even where a presumption of harm arises, is an insurer entitled to present evidence rebutting that presumption to the jury, and have the jury resolve the issue as a factual matter? (Assignments of Error Nos. 2, 3, 6)
6. Is an insured entitled to "coverage by estoppel" in favor of the insured, instead of the injured party, in the amount of a judgment where that judgment has been completely satisfied by payments to the injured party, cannot be executed in any way, and where the insured has paid nothing? (Assignments of Error Nos. 2, 5)

7. Should emotional distress damages qualify for a multiplier under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act? (Assignments of Error No. 2, 7)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At the core of this case are two broken people, their injuries as terrible as the alcohol-fueled drag race that caused them was reprehensible. CP 131-139. In May 2008¹, a teenager named David Pavolka successfully bought beer at SIG, the insured in this case. *Id.* Pavolka shared it with friends, including Christopher Stewart and Todd McLaughlin, who then went for drunken drag racing through Point Defiance Park. *Id.* Stewart lost control of his car and seriously injured, two pedestrians: Dawn Smith and William Lee. *Id.* In August 2009, Smith and Lee sued the parties responsible for their injuries, including Stewart, McLaughlin, and SIG. *Id.*

When SIG received the Lee and Smith Complaint, Day sent it to her insurance agent, Michael Huh in September 2009. RP 11/18/14 p. 132. Huh was an independent agent that sold insurance from a variety of insurers, including Enumclaw; he was the agent from whom SIG had purchased business owners liability insurance from Enumclaw starting in December 2003. CP 3, 7. There is no dispute that this policy had an exclusion for liquor liability, and did not provide any coverage for the

¹ A timeline of important events is attached as Appendix A.

allegations against SIG. CP 7.

Huh testified that when he received the Complaint, he remembered that there was no coverage, because SIG had not purchased it. RP 12/2/14, p. 104. Day claimed he told her she “should” have coverage. CP 384. In either event, everyone agrees that Huh reported the notice to Enumclaw. CP 382.

The claim was assigned to Enumclaw claims examiner Linda Johnston, who noticed in the file that Day reported her agent said there “should” be coverage. RP 11/25/14, p. 90-91. Enumclaw asked its coverage counsel, Ron Dinning, to look at the claim. CP 1224. Mr. Dinning recognized that Day’s only potential liability was expressly excluded, and recommended denial. *Id.* Enumclaw, however, was concerned enough about Day’s claim about what her agent said that Ms. Johnston ordered the underwriting file to make sure that the policy had issued per the application. CP 1535. She found that it had. CP 385. She then called agent Huh who wrote the policy. *Id.*

Huh told her that he remembered selling this policy to SIG six years earlier, and that he remembered this particular transaction because it was unusual that a grocery insured would decline liquor coverage. CP 391-392, RP 12/2/14, p. 99-100. He went to see Day at SIG, and they conversed in Korean about insurance. *Id.* at 107. Huh explained liquor

liability coverage to Day, and told her that the additional premium would be \$200. CP 111. She declined, explaining that only she and her sister would be working the cash register, and selling liquor was a risk that they could mitigate by being careful. RP 12/2/14, p. 98.

Ms. Johnston noted Huh's apparent memory of the events, which suggested that there had been no error in issuing the policy. However, because of Day's contention, Enumclaw decided to provide the only policy benefit at issue at the time – a full legal defense. RP 11/25/14 p. 91. On October 14, 2009, Enumclaw wrote Day that it would appoint attorney Scott Clement to defend SIG, but that the liquor exclusion meant there would be no coverage for any judgment. CP 852. Enumclaw also explained it may bring a declaratory judgment action for a judicial declaration of coverage. *Id.* Enumclaw's Director of Litigation, Thomas Underbrink, authorized the preparation of that action at the same time the reservation of rights letter was sent. CP 387. Mr. Clement defended SIG vigorously from the moment he was appointed until the case was settled. RP 12/24/14 p. 61-62. Importantly, there is no claim that this defense was improper in *any way*, including no allegation that Enumclaw's position on coverage for liquor liability influenced the defense in the slightest.

Enumclaw filed this declaratory judgment action on February 2, 2010. CP 1. When SIG answered the declaratory judgment action on April

13, 2010, Day admitted that there was no coverage under the policy. CP 6. She did, however, for the first time crystalize SIG's claim that there "should be coverage" into a legal theory – namely reformation based on alleged mutual mistake. *Id.* A year after the declaratory action was filed, SIG amended its Answer, in February 2011, to include a third party Complaint against Huh for having failed recommend liquor liability coverage, and a counterclaim against Enumclaw for bad faith, alleging that Enumclaw had failed to adequately investigate her reformation claim. CP 194.

Both SIG and Enumclaw took a number of depositions in the coverage lawsuit. Amongst others, Enumclaw questioned Day, Huh, and Mr. Kim. RP 11/25/14 p. 66, 67; 12/1/14 p. 109. By Spring 2011, SIG was in settlement negotiations with Smith and Lee. Enumclaw participated in the ultimate settlement, dated June 7, 2011. CP 304. The terms of the settlement were these: Enumclaw paid \$125,000 on behalf of Day; Day agreed that Smith and Lee could enter judgment against her for a combined \$8 million, but they covenanted that they would not execute it against any asset other than Day's claim *against SIG's agent, Huh. Id.* Day then assigned SIG's claims against Huh to Smith and Lee. She *did not* assign any of her claims against Enumclaw – Smith and Lee did not want them. RP 11-6-14, p. 22. *Day paid nothing to extinguish her own multi-*

million-dollar liability. CP 304. Enumclaw agreed that the settlement amount was reasonable. CP 936.

Another crucial aspect of the settlement agreement was that it detailed how the stipulated judgments against Day would be satisfied after the assigned claims against Huh had been exhausted:

As soon as the assigned claims have concluded (whether by settlement, final judgment, or exhaustion of all appeals and the time for further action has expired), Day may enter a full satisfaction of judgment signed by Plaintiffs [Lee & Smith] in favor of Day, which full satisfaction shall be signed by Plaintiffs when this settlement is executed. ***The full satisfaction is to be entered regardless of the amount of any judgment award or settlement accepted and regardless of whether the result is less than the judgment agreed in this settlement.***

CP 305 (emphasis added, attached as Appendix B).

Armed with this assignment, Lee and Smith settled with Huh, without *ever* entering judgments against Day. CP 963. The amount of the settlement was \$600,000, well within the limits of *his* liability insurance, so the size of that settlement was not related to his ability to pay. CP 1788. Lee and Smith dismissed their assigned claims against Huh with prejudice. CP 226. Instead of entering judgment against Day (there was no need), the “matter [having] been fully settled and compromised,” Smith and Lee dismissed *all* of their claims *with prejudice* on October 12, 2011. CP 622. As of that date, the Smith and Lee lawsuit against Day had concluded forever, with her paying nothing, no judgment having been entered against

her, and no future obligations that could ever mature. In every sense, both legal and factual, the case against her was over and her liability had been compromised, paid, and discharged. *Id.*

Day proceeded on her bad faith counterclaims. She unsuccessfully moved for summary judgment that Enumclaw had violated its alleged obligation to investigate and keep her informed of developments related to her own reformation claim. CP 316, 594. Enumclaw objected that there was no bad faith, but regardless, she could not have been damaged by judgments that not only had never been entered, but that represented obligations that had been fully satisfied and forever discharged by the settlement with Huh. CP 535. Day's attorney had previously brought proposed judgments *against his client* to an oral argument to have the trial court enter them.² CP 245. Importantly: that suit against SIG had already been dismissed with prejudice, her liability discharged by settlement and payment, and *no one* other than Day and her lawyer wanted the judgments. Enumclaw objected strenuously to this tactic, and Judge Arend correctly declined to enter them.

But having judgment entered against herself was important to Day and her attorney, so they tried again when Judge Arend was reassigned.

² Day's attorney's justification has been that the judgments were *not* harmful: "Day's lawyers are simply trying to protect their client by having judgment entered [against her] ..." CP 581.

This time, she first orchestrated a Motion to set aside the Order of Dismissal with Prejudice that had ended the claims against her. CP 625. The court acquiesced to setting aside the Order of Dismissal, since Day and Lee and Smith all agreed to it. CP 704. Then Day successfully consolidated the Lee and Smith case with the coverage case. CP 603. Next, she urged the court to conduct a reasonableness hearing (to “establish” an amount to which Enumclaw had already stipulated³), and her attorney again demanded the court enter judgments against his client. CP 801. Over Enumclaw’s objection, the court did so. CP 1045, 1048.

Before the bad faith trial commenced, Day moved *in limine* to exclude evidence of how the case was actually resolved, including all facts related to the lead-up to the settlement, and the details of it. CP 1387. She asked the Court to focus exclusively on Enumclaw’s investigation of her reformation claim, and the insurer’s communication with her on that issue, arguing that how the claim was resolved was irrelevant. *Id.* Enumclaw objected that this would not allow the jury to understand the investigation in the context of the entire case, but the trial court granted that motion. RP 11/17/14, p. 8.

At trial, Enumclaw was prevented from offering any evidence of

³ The intention of conducting a reasonableness hearing had nothing *at all* to do with Enumclaw: SIG’s lawyer confirmed this: “Any reasonableness hearing the plaintiffs bring will be adverse to Michael Hub and his insurer, *not MOE.*” CP 258. (Emphasis added).

the proper legal standards that apply to a reformation claim, that were the standards that legally governed Enumclaw's evaluation of the claim as it was being handled: namely that reformation requires a *mutual* mistake, and it is the *reformer's* burden to prove it by clear and convincing evidence. *See Appendix C*. The trial court refused to instruct the jury on that issue, as well, even though it allowed Day's claims handling expert to assert an incorrect and much lower standard, based on "agent error." RP 12/3/14 p. 19, 54, 57-58, 62, 11/24/14, p. 146-147.

Enumclaw also attempted to present evidence that even if there had been any claims handling bad faith, it was unrelated to liability ultimately imposed on SIG (CP 1915), and that in any event, *no* such liability *had* been imposed (CP 1478-1481). The trial court ruled the evidence irrelevant, and excluded it. RP 11/17/14, p. 8.

Based on limited evidence, the jury determined that Enumclaw had failed to investigate SIG's reformation claim in good faith, and awarded \$300,000 in emotional distress damages. CP 1675. Day moved for a determination that the verdict created a presumption that the Lee and Smith judgments against her were caused by bad faith, and that Enumclaw was liable *to her* for the amount of those judgments plus interest: ***\$10,160,366.14***. CP 1766. That reflected the amount that would have been reasonable for her to compensate *her victims*. It *is not* an amount she paid

them, or will *ever* have to pay them, because she has a complete release. However, the trial court used Lee and Smith's damages as a proxy for SIG's damages, and awarded that amount. On Day's motion (CP 1956), the court also trebled the emotional distress award to total \$900,000 under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act. CP 2127.

Post-verdict the court finally addressed SIG's reformation argument, which was an equitable claim. The court applied the correct "clear and convincing evidence" standard, ruled that SIG had *failed* to prove reformation, and that the policy must stand as written; there was never any liquor liability coverage at all – no duty to defend, and no duty to indemnify. CP 2153. From these orders and judgment against it, Enumclaw timely appealed.

IV. Argument

1. Summary of the Argument

The most important facts in this case are: 1) The trial court found no coverage for any of SIG's liability, no duty to defend, no duty to indemnify. 2) SIG has acknowledged there was nothing wrong with the defense Enumclaw provided, which was "a benefit, without question, to her." RP 11/24/14 p. 138. 3) Enumclaw followed the proper path of defending under a reservation and bringing a declaratory judgment action to resolve its coverage obligation. 4) Day's potential liability to Smith and

Lee had come to an end – a strong form release and dismissal with prejudice. 5) Day herself is the one who undid that dismissal and entered the phantom, meaningless judgments against herself. Now she claims that she is “harmed” by those judgments and should receive, herself, their face value, although *the injured parties* have settled, been compensated, and have entirely released her. This is nothing but gamesmanship, which is not new in insurance law:

What we have here, at bottom, is an effort by Aguerre to concoct a bad faith claim out of whole cloth, or, by collusion between the claimants and the insured, with the “ingenious assistance of counsel.” In return for its alleged commitment to pay Kerstens \$25,000, Aguerre has attempted to position itself to pursue a high stakes, bad faith case, seeking punitive damages, from which it hopes to emerge not only with the Kersten claim disposed of at no cost to Aguerre, but a profit as well in the form of damages recovered from Zurich.

Bad faith litigation is not a game, where insureds are free to manufacture claims for recovery. Every judgment against an insurer potentially increases the amounts that other citizens must pay for their insurance premiums.

J.B. Aguerre, Inc. v. American Guarantee & Liability Ins. Co., 59 Cal.App.4th 6 (1997)
(citation omitted)

Bad faith litigation is no more a game in Washington than it is in California, and the Court should not countenance Day’s efforts to manufacture harm to herself. It is not real, and it is not harmful, except to the other citizens who must pay for it in their insurance premiums.

In this brief, Enumclaw will show that the kind of bad faith claims

handling alleged by SIG does not result in a presumption of harm or coverage by estoppel. Enumclaw will then argue that the trial court erred in entering moot phantom judgments against Day, and that the evidentiary errors and jury instructions mandate a reversal as well. Finally, Enumclaw will show that emotional harm is not subject to the Insurance Fair Conduct Act's treble damages provision. Enumclaw respectfully requests that the Court reverse the \$11,165,306.14 judgment against it.

2. *Standards of Review*

The following issues are subject to *de novo* review:

Whether the court had jurisdiction to enter moot judgments against SIG. *Outsource Servs. Mgmt., LLC v. Nooksack Bus. Corp.*, 181 Wn. 2d 272, 276, 333 P.3d 380 (2014).

Whether a presumption of harm and coverage by estoppel were applicable to this case. *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia, Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 122, 127, 196 P.3d 664 (2008) (resolving this issue as a matter of law).

Whether, as a matter of statutory interpretation, the RCW 48.30.015 can be applied to multiply damages for emotional distress. *Bostain v. Food Exp., Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 700, 708, 153 P.3d 846 (2007).

The following issues are subject to review for abuse of discretion:

The failure to give jury instructions. *Boeing Co. v. Harker-Lott*, 93 Wn. App. 181, 186, 968 P.2d 14 (1998).

Evidentiary rulings. *Blomster v. Nordstrom, Inc.*, 103 Wn. App. 252, 259, 11 P.3d 883 (2000).

3. *The trial court erred by imposing coverage by estoppel.*

Even if the Court were to affirm the jury's finding of bad faith

claims handling (which it should not), the facts of this case do not support a presumption of harm or coverage by estoppel. Although coverage by estoppel is a recognized remedy in certain types of bad faith cases, it is equally well-established that it *is not* in others. The kind of bad faith Day accuses Enumclaw of in this case – an alleged procedural failure to promptly investigate her claim for reformation and promptly communicate with her about that investigation – does not trigger the policy concerns that have led courts to apply the remedies of presumed harm and estoppel. Where those concerns are not present, those remedies are not available. *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia, Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 122. Here, the facts do not support estoppel, and the Court should reverse the trial court’s determination to the contrary.

Coverage by estoppel sets the insured’s damages against an insurer equal to the damages the insured is legally obligated to pay a third party. The principle is that because liability insurance is supposed to protect the insured against liability, if the insurer wrongfully acts in a way that *could increase* the insured’s uncovered liability, the insurer is bound to the judgment against the insured by estoppel. *Coventry Associates v. Am. States Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 269, 961 P.2d 933 (1998). In Washington, this remedy was first developed and applied in the context of bad faith “failure to settle” cases. It was later expanded to a second type of bad faith: the

failure to provide an adequate defense to the insured, either by not defending at all, or by providing a tainted defense that surreptitiously undermines the insured's *coverage* position. Below, this brief will address the legal predicates to impose coverage by estoppel in each of these contexts, then show that the facts here cannot support such a judgment.

a. Coverage by estoppel for failure to settle within policy limits is not appropriate in this case.

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