No. 47494-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MUTUAL OF ENUMCLAW INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant/Cross Respondent,

v.

MYONG SUK DAY, dba STOP IN GROCERY,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
FOR PIERCE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE STANLEY J. RUMBAUGH

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT

KILPATRICK LAW P.C.

By: Richard B. Kilpatrick
WSBA No. 7058

1408 140th Pl. NE, Suite 150
Bellevue, WA 98007
(425) 201-0585

OLIVE|BEARB LAW GROUP,
PLLC

By: Timothy A. Bearb
WSBA No. 39300

1218 Third Avenue, Suite 1000
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 629-9909

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend
WSBA No. 14355
Catherine W. Smith
WSBA No. 9542

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

MOE's argument against coverage by estoppel here is an unwarranted assault on the legal principles well-established in a consistent line of precedent from this Court and the Supreme Court. (See MOE 19, complaining of an "incautiously written portion of *Butler*") No one will ever know whether Day would have established liquor liability coverage had she been told the issue and given immediate access to all the information MOE had back in 2009, when the injured plaintiffs made their claim.⁵ No one will ever know if MOE had timely and thoroughly investigated coverage, and made an impartial coverage decision, whether MOE would have removed the reservation of rights and covered the claims, just as its Claims Director testified it should have. MOE's reliance on the trial court's decision not to reform the policy wrongly imposes on its insured Day the consequences of its bad faith decision to place its own financial interest above those of its insured.

⁵ MOE's reliance on its claims adjuster's post-hoc, post-trial assurance by affidavit that Day's reformation claim "was unlikely to be successful" (MOE 43) is a good example of its misguided belief that the insurer is always in the best position to decide what the coverage decision should be, and that as a consequence the insured need not be given access to all relevant information.

3. Day's reasonable settlement with the injured plaintiffs established only the "floor" for MOE's bad faith liability.

MOE does not dispute the established rule that the insured's reasonable settlement constitutes the "floor, not a ceiling, on the damages" for bad faith. *Miller*, 180 Wn. App. at 782, ¶1. "[A]n insurer had no right to litigate the reasonableness and good faith [of the insured's settlement with the injured party] as part of a subsequent bad faith action." *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp., LLC*, 161 Wn. App. 510, 523, ¶ 25, 260 P.3d 209 (2011), *aff'd*, 175 Wn.2d 756, 287 P.3d 551 (2012) (citing *Besel*, 146 Wn.2d 730). The courts consider the reasonableness of the settlement amount using the *Glover* factors to establish the "floor" for bad faith damages. *Besel*, 146 Wn.2d at 738; *See Chaussee v. Maryland Cas. Co.*, 60 Wn. App. 504, 512, 812 P.2d 487, *rev. denied*, 117 Wn.2d 1018 (1991).

Here, MOE attempted to use its concession of reasonableness to evade the legal consequences of its bad faith. (3/7 RP 6; 6/27 RP 5-6) MOE was bound by a settlement found to be reasonable, as a legal consequence of the jury's finding of bad faith. *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. T & G Constr., Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 255, 199 P.3d 376 (2008). The trial court correctly entered

judgment against MOE for the amount of Day's reasonable settlement with the plaintiffs.

4. MOE may not rely on the injured plaintiffs' initial failure to enter formal judgment to escape the consequences of its bad faith.

MOE complains that the stipulated judgment for the reasonable settlement, coupled with a covenant by the plaintiffs not to execute on that judgment, was "unrecognizable as any kind of legal obligation." (MOE 29) But that is true in any bad faith case where the insured receives a covenant not to execute. An insured does not have to subject itself to a "litigated judgment" (MOE 29); in every bad faith case where the stipulated judgment is the measure of damages, the insured is no longer subject to financial risk to the injured party. *Besel*, 146 Wn.2d at 737.

No court has held that formal entry of judgment is a predicate for imposing coverage by estoppel against the insurer. In *Miller*, for instance, there was never a formal judgment entered against Safeco's insured because "[a]ll parties . . . agreed to treat the remaining \$4.15 million as if judgment in that amount had been entered against Kenny." *Miller*, 180 Wn. App. at 785, ¶ 12. "A reasonableness hearing became unnecessary when Safeco, in May 2005, stipulated to an order finding that \$4.15 million was the

reasonable total net amount for the stipulated covenant judgments.” *Miller*, 180 Wn. App. at 784, ¶ 12.

That is exactly what happened here. The injured plaintiffs in their settlement with Day agreed to obtain a reasonableness determination on the agreed \$7.9 million in damages and to enter judgment against Day. MOE’s coverage counsel represented that MOE had no objection to entry of the reasonable consent judgment, but that, as in *Miller*, “if a reasonableness hearing and judgment can be avoided that would be a good thing.” (CP 652, 656, 660-72) Remarkably, MOE now attempts to rely on its concession to argue that Day had not suffered “harm” because of its bad faith. To the contrary, MOE waived any right to insist on entry of judgment or a reasonableness hearing by conceding the reasonableness of Day’s settlement. *See Unigard Ins. Co. v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 160 Wn. App. 912, 923, ¶ 20, 250 P.3d 121 (2011).

MOE also asserts that Day had “a *complete release*.” (MOE 32) (emphasis in original) But the agreement with Lee and Smith did not release Day. Instead, Lee and Smith agreed to provide a covenant not to execute and to enter a judgment against Day. It was only because MOE said a reasonableness hearing and judgment should be avoided if possible (CP 660), that the injured plaintiffs did

not do so immediately and agreed to a dismissal. (3/7 RP 11-12) MOE cannot rely on its own concession that Day was at risk for a judgment exceeding \$7.9 million when she resolved the underlying claim for that amount to argue that its insured had not suffered harm. In any event, judgments *were* entered against Day, after MOE's objections were fully heard.⁶ While entry of judgment is not an element of a bad faith claim, MOE ignores the judgments that were in fact entered.

MOE in particular misplaces its reliance on *Werlinger v. Clarendon Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 129 Wn. App. 804, 120 P.3d 593 (2005), *rev. denied*, 157 Wn.2d 1004 (2006) in arguing that Day was not harmed by its bad faith. (MOE 36) In *Werlinger*, the insured had filed for bankruptcy prior to the auto accident, and was insulated from liability long before the claim had been tendered to the insurer. Here, to the contrary, MOE's bad faith caused Day to be consumed by the prospect of bankruptcy and losing her business. (11/24 RP 17; *see also* 11/19 RP 66-69, 11/20 RP 138)) This Court distinguished *Werlinger* in *Moratti*, which rejected the insurer's

⁶ MOE's challenge to the procedure by which the judgment was entered ignores that it did not challenge (or timely appeal) either the vacation of the dismissal or the judgment subsequently entered. RAP 2.2(a)(10); *see Cork Insulation Sales Co., Inc. v. Torgeson*, 54 Wn. App. 702, 707, 775 P.2d 970, *rev. denied*, 113 Wn.2d 1022 (1989). The argument (MOE 33, 38-40) that the procedure was invalid or improper cannot be raised in this appeal.

argument (identical to that here), that a “live judgment” is necessary to prove harm. *Moratti*, 162 Wn. App. at 511, ¶ 27. The absence of a bankrupt party (much less a bankruptcy filed *before* the claimed tortious conduct) and a sham agreement are critical differences between this case and *Werlinger*.

5. Coverage by estoppel protects the insured and deters the insurer from bad faith conduct.

MOE ignores not only the precedent, but the policies underlying the remedy of coverage by estoppel. Depriving insureds of the remedy of coverage by estoppel where an insurer has successfully hidden the facts that would establish coverage of an adverse claim would give insurers an incentive to avoid their obligations to insureds under *Tank*. But it also would undermine another purpose of insurance – providing full compensation to injured parties by driving them to settle for far less than the reasonable value of their claims – just as the plaintiffs here did, through “litigation fatigue” (CP 1986), because MOE kept its insured (and the injured plaintiffs) in the dark about the possible right to liquor liability coverage.

MOE attempted to thwart those policies here – MOE got off “cheap” in the payment it made to the injured plaintiffs after refusing to pay the limits demand, telling Day and the injured

plaintiffs there was no coverage without fully investigating, informing them of the true coverage issue, and forcing its insured to defend a declaratory judgment action to uncover the true coverage issue. MOE even attempted to persuade Day to give up her bad faith claim before it would make *any* payment to the injured plaintiffs. MOE cannot rely on the fact that Day retained her bad faith claim to absolve itself of its own misconduct.

Although MOE claims that an insured's failure to "assign her rights to her victim is immaterial" (MOE 31), its argument boils down to claiming that because the injured parties will not recover an assigned judgment, the insured has not been harmed. (MOE 35) MOE argues that its insured Day could not pursue her own bad faith claim against her own insurer MOE because the plaintiffs accepted an assignment of her claim against her broker, rather than against MOE. (MOE 34) But as assignees, injured plaintiffs can have no rights greater than the insured from whom any assigned bad faith claim derives. *Besel v. Viking Ins. Co. of Wisconsin*, 105 Wn. App. 463, 472, 21 P.3d 293 (2001), *rev'd on other grounds*, 146 Wn.2d 730, 49 P.3d 887 (2002); *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn. App. 185, 201, ¶ 29, 312 P.3d

976 (2013), *rev. denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1010 (2014) (“without assignment, a third party claimant has no “bad faith] right of action.”). “The coverage by estoppel remedy . . . protects *the insured* against the insurer’s bad faith conduct.” *Kirk*, 134 Wn.2d at 564 (emphasis added).

When an insurer acts in bad faith, as MOE did here, “it is in no position to argue that the steps the insured took to protect himself [or herself] should inure to the insurer’s benefit.” *Besel*, 146 Wn.2d at 737 (alternation in original) (quoting *Greer v. Northwestern Nat’l Ins. Co.*, 109 Wn.2d 191, 204, 743 P.2d 1244 (1987)). This Court recently rejected an insurer’s claim that an insured’s assignee could not prove “harm” because the insured had reserved claims to himself in *Miller*, 180 Wn. App. at 795, ¶ 43. Similarly, the outcome of claims against the insurer’s broker was irrelevant to the bad faith claim in *Moratti*, 162 Wn. App. at 510, ¶ 25.

MOE’s liability for the consequence of its breach of duties to its insured under *Tank* were in no way “mooted” by subsequent events. *Moratti*, 162 Wn. App. at 503-04, ¶ 12. MOE makes this argument based on a misreading of *Harbor Lands, LP v. City of Blaine*, 146 Wn. App. 589, 191 P.3d 1282 (2008), which held a developer’s suit to reverse stop work orders that had been rescinded

by the city was moot. (MOE 38) Day is not asking for a “purely advisory opinion, instructing another court how to rule” (MOE 39, quoting *Harbor Lands*) but for affirmance of a judgment holding MOE liable for the consequences of its bad faith as found by a jury.

The only “abusive tactics . . . at play here” (MOE 40) are MOE’s failure to inform its insured Day of the facts that would have given her liquor liability coverage when she tendered the claim back in 2009. MOE may not rely on the injured plaintiffs’ decision not to take an assignment of Day’s bad faith claim to escape the consequences of its bad faith.

6. The jury found that Day was harmed by MOE’s bad faith under instructions that did not impose a presumption of harm.

MOE’s argument that it was deprived of the ability to “rebut the presumption of harm” is meritless because the jury found that Day was harmed by MOE’s bad faith under instructions which placed the burden of proving liability and damages on Day, not MOE. The trial court appropriately let the jury decide those factual issues under instructions to which MOE took no exception. CR 51(f); see *Goehle v. Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center*, 100 Wn. App. 609, 615-16, 1 P.3d 579, rev. denied, 142 Wn.2d 1010 (2000).

MOE's contention that it should have been allowed to argue that Day suffered no harm is erroneous because the legal consequence of the jury's findings is a question of law. See §B.2, *supra*. Equally without merit is MOE's evidentiary argument that the jury should have been allowed to consider all the facts surrounding the settlement, because MOE conceded below that if the court ruled that the covenant judgment was the base amount or "floor" for damages if the jury found bad faith, there would be no basis to introduce the settlement or the covenant. (11/13 RP 76)

Even had MOE not conceded that the facts of settlement were irrelevant if the remedy of coverage by estoppel applied, its argument about the presumption of harm arising from a breach of its duty of good faith ignores that "[t]his presumption may be rebutted only by a showing of fraud or collusion." *Bird*, 175 Wn.2d at 782, ¶ 56. Because MOE conceded that its insured's settlement with the plaintiffs was reasonable and not the product of fraud or collusion, it could not rebut the presumption of harm even had the trial court imposed one.

C. MOE has not preserved any other issues related to jury instructions, which are in any event meritless.

MOE complains of the trial court's failure to give an "appropriate instruction" that would have allowed it to rebut the

presumption of harm, or to instruct the jury on the supposed “legal rules” governing reformation of insurance policies. (MOE 42, 47) These issues have not been preserved for review, and in any event lack merit.

First, MOE did not take formal exception to the failure to give any of the instructions set out in its brief at 47. CR 51(f). Nor has it assigned error to the failure to give any instructions, as required by RAP 10.3(a)(4) and RAP 10.3(g). In any event, MOE has provided no legal argument in support of its proposed instructions. *See Ang v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d 477, 486-87, ¶ 17, 114 P.3d 637 (2005) (refusing to consider appellant’s “incidental allusion” to claimed instructional errors).

The issues for the jury did not require it to find a temporary “binder” under RCW 48.18.230 (CP 1715), or whether the statute of frauds, RCW 48.18.190, applied (CP 1716), but whether MOE’s own policies required coverage. (12/3 RP 52-53) *Tank* (and its robust progeny), not a decision of the intermediate appellate court in Kansas (CP 1719), governed MOE’s duties to investigate coverage here. And to the extent reformation of the insurance contract had any effect on the parties’ rights and obligations (MOE 47), the court decided the issue after trial. (*See Cross-Appeal, infra* at § V)

D. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in trebling Day’s “actual damages” for emotional distress under IFCA.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in awarding additional damages under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act, RCW 48.30.015, for double the damages for emotional distress found by the jury on Day’s claims. Not only are these “actual damages” under IFCA, MOE consented to an award of emotional distress damages below, and its argument is not preserved for appellate review.

1. MOE waived any challenge to emotional distress damages under IFCA by failing to raise it in the trial court.

MOE does not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence or the instructions under which the jury found that MOE violated IFCA. MOE raises its argument that IFCA does not authorize recovery for emotional distress for the first time on appeal.⁷ Here, MOE agreed that the jury could award Day damages for her “fear, aggravation or distress” (CP 1755), and compensate her “for such

⁷ MOE has not preserved any challenge to the undifferentiated special verdict, which (as proposed by MOE) did not differentiate between a finding of common law bad faith and a violation of IFCA. (CP 1765) MOE proposed and did not except to the verdict form, and did not propose (and resisted) a verdict form that would have required the jury to distinguish between these two claims. (12/3 RP 79-81; CP 1727) *See Davis v. Microsoft Corp.*, 149 Wn.2d 521, 539-40, 70 P.3d 126 (2003); Tegland, 15A Wash. Prac., *Handbook on Civil Procedure* § 88.6 (2015-16 ed.) (defendant must propose a special verdict that segregates challenged theories from those that the defendant concedes properly went to the jury in order to preserve challenge to one of the theories on appeal).

fear, aggravation, or distress as you find were proximately caused by [MOE]’s failure to act in good faith and/or violation of the Insurance Fair Conduct Act.” (CP 1758; see 12/3 RP 80-81) MOE has failed to preserve its objection to these damages by raising the issue for the first time on appeal. *Ainsworth v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 180 Wn. App. 52, 80-81, ¶ 45, 322 P.3d 6 (2014).

2. Emotional distress damages are “actual damages” under IFCA.

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